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The Royal Incorporation of Architects in Scotland 
(RIAS) is the professional body for all Chartered 
Architects in Scotland. It was founded in 1916 to organise 
and unite in fellowship all architects in Scotland and 
to promote the value of architecture and the work of 
architects in our country.

As a Scottish Charity it plays a unique role in assisting 
the creativity and experience of its members to help 
individuals, communities and businesses to develop a 
higher quality, more sustainable built environment.

There has never been a more vital time for the RIAS and 
its members to be active in Scotland’s conversation 
about architecture and the built environment.
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The RIAS with its members have worked hard and with 

determination over the past year to respond to the challenge of 

reinvigorating the organisation across Scotland.

Members have played a key role in the process of developing 

the new RIAS strategy, working closely with the Executive staff 

team, to inform the future shape of the organisation from a 

governance perspective and to take a fresh look at priorities.

This has been a good process for everyone involved and I trust 

this will inform the way we do things in the future, making the 

organisation stronger, more accountable and better placed to 

champion the profession.

The membership voted for significant and progressive reform 

in June 2018 in response to its governance challenges. This led 

to a new and refreshed agenda for showcasing architecture in 

Scotland. The RIAS Strategy, which was based on the input from all 

of our members, was launched at the RIAS Convention in October.

It highlights the important role the RIAS membership plays for 

communities and advocates and champions the best in architecture 

and design. It focuses attention on the role the RIAS membership 

plays in helping people to live better lives and, importantly, the 

contribution we can make to helping Scotland address the climate 

emergency. We are looking forward to sharing the new Strategy 

with individuals and communities across Scotland and beyond as 

a way of engaging with a wide range of people and opening the 

door to the architecture profession.

Foreword / Message from the President

There are still some significant matters to be addressed and 

resolved. OSCR has advised that it intends to report in 2020. When 

published, the report will be shared with the membership. We are 

all keen to hear from them and to learn what they have to say in 

concluding their investigations.

We know that they are encouraged with the direction of travel 

of the RIAS governance which reflects external advice and the 

views that OSCR shared with RIAS trustees in February 2019.

RIAS Council has passed the findings of the Independent 

Investigation to Police Scotland and we will assist with any 

ongoing inquiries they may have.

Scotland needs a strong, vocal and inspiring RIAS and this 

annual report presents the changes that are taking place and the 

many interesting, inspiring and creative conversations we hope to 

have throughout 2020 and beyond. 

I’d like to thank the members and the Executive staff team for 

the enormous hard work that has been undertaken during 2019 

– we are all looking forward to taking things forward and to see 

the new Strategy being actioned in communities across Scotland.

Robin Webster OBE PRIAS

8th April 2020

1.

RIAS Convention 2019

© Malcolm Cochrane
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The RIAS is an incorporation of six regional Chapters. In total we 

have over 5,000 members.

The RIAS supports and works with its members and Chapters 

to promote excellence in architecture and the built environment. 

Working with partners, local authorities and communities, we 

host activities and events including an annual conference, talks 

and awards. Through RIAS publications and newsletters members 

are kept informed of events and relevant activity in business, the 

creative industries, the built environment and on technical, policy 

and legislative issues. The RIAS magazine, the RIAS Quarterly, 

and the RIAS bookshop, based at Rutland Square, give members 

and the public access to the latest design and technical literature 

about architecture and urban design.

The RIAS will continue to refresh these services and facilities 

during 2020 to ensure they best serve its members and the public.

Much of the RIAS activity is carried out by its members on 

a voluntary basis. Our six regional Chapters are instrumental 

in bringing members together across Scotland to support the 

profession in practice but, as importantly, work within their 

communities on the promotion of better design and a higher 

quality, built environment.

The RIAS benefits from a stable membership and in 2019 

welcomed 87 new full Chartered Members, 177 Students, 22 

Associates and 17 former members rejoined RIAS. During the 

year 38 members resigned, 35 retired and sadly, 36 deaths were 

reported, and 26 individuals were removed for non-payment of 

fees. In recognition of their experience and expertise as practicing 

architects seven chartered members were awarded Fellowships of 

the RIAS. By the year end our total number of members was 5,267 

of whom 2,555 are fee paying. This compares with 5,133 (2,590 fee 

paying) last year.

Honorary Fellowships are accorded to those who have made a 

significant contribution to Scotland's cultural, academic, business 

or political life and to international figures who contribute to 

world architecture. Our Honorary Fellows enhance the RIAS’ 

membership network and influence and in 2019 we were delighted 

to recognise the following to join this influential group:

 

• Shona Frame, Partner, Construction Disputes at CMS for her 

contribution to RIAS Practice Services.

• Sandy Halliday for her contribution to the development of 

sustainable solutions for the built environment.

• Steven Harrison for his role in co-founding the RIAS Regs 

scheme.

In 2020 we will move to nominate Honorary Fellows annually 

and propose to formalise further our honorary appointment 

process.

Our Membership and Chapters

2.

Membership by Chapter, gender and membership class

Chapter

Class

Gender

Aberdeen

Dundee

Edinburgh

Glasgow

Inverness

Stirling

Outwith

Male

Female

10.1 %
12.2 %

24.8 %
30.6 %

4.5 %
1.8 %

16.1 %

23.1 %
0.3 %

44.9 %
15.4 %
3.8 %
4.2 %
3.3 %
0.1 %

4.9 %

 73.1 %  67.8 %

 26.9 % 32.2 %

(inner ring excludes retired Members / Fellows)
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Breakdown of membership by Chapter and gender.

Smaller figures exclude retired Members / Fellows.

Breakdown of membership by RIAS / RIBA categories, 

from 2011 to date.

Aberdeen
m 66 % f 34 %

m 62 % f 38 %

Dundee
m 68 % f 32 %

m 61 % f 39 %

Edinburgh
m 75 % f 25 %

m 69 % f 31 %

Glasgow
m 77 % f 23 %

m 71 % f 29 %

Inverness
m 79 % f 21 %

m 71 % f 29 %

Stirling
m 80 % f 20 %

m 76 % f 24 %
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RIAS Quarterly
In 2019 the RIAS magazine improved its design and production 

process and introduced a programme of guest editorials, which 

considered specific important contemporary topics alongside 

our regular technical advice and design commentary. Focus 

themes included Ethical Education, Sustainable Practice, Timber 

Construction and Designing for Health & Wellbeing. This 

approach will continue in 2020 with magazine issues addressing 

Conservation and the Climate Emergency.

Conferences, Lectures and Exhibitions
Our annual Convention curated by members (and complemented 

by regional chapter conferences and talks) hosted over 180 

delegates this year. Climate of Opinion was held at the EICC in 

Edinburgh on 4th October, and included presentations and 

provocations from Architecture Fringe, Joe Clancy, Suzanne 

Ewing, Jenny Jones, Roddy Langmuir, René Sommer Lindsay, Scott 

McAulay, Ben Rainger, SEDA, Amin Taha and Matthew Wilkinson. 

Aspect Cinema showed three architectural films and two of our 

Sponsors, Wernick Buildings and Hardies, gave technical product 

presentations. 

Sharing examples of work and contemporary ideas is an 

integral part of the event, and delegates enjoyed specially curated 

exhibitions in the foyer on Frankentypes, Voices of Experience 

and the shortlist of the Architecture & Design Scotland and RIAS 

Student Awards, the winners of which were announced during the 

Convention.

Bookshop
The RIAS bookshop based at Rutland Square, and online, is 

open to the public to encourage interest in architecture and the 

built environment and this year’s events were held to launch 

Sandy Halliday’s Sustainable Construction book, where she was 

presented with her Honorary Fellowship of the RIAS, and the 

summer edition of Crumble magazine produced by Edinburgh 

students and professionals working to enliven the conversation 

about architecture.

Book sales remain steady, with income still largely driven 

by Contracts and Technical purchases. Income has increased 

in these categories with new regular customers being secured 

in 2019. The Bookshop continues to work closely with Practice 

Services to ensure relevant titles and products are available and 

recommended to members.

 Bookshop pop-ups at the ‘Scotland’s Housing’ event in May 

and the RIAS Convention in October increased access for members 

and the public. The RIAS proposes more bookshop events and Pop-

ups which, together with website improvements, will improve our 

literature offer in 2020.

Awards
It is a key part of the RIAS’ purpose to promote the creation of 

well-designed, attractive buildings that generate economic, 

environmental, social and cultural value. Our staff and our 

members are committed to ensuring that the benefits of good 

architecture are understood and valued in Scotland. We promote 

better architecture through the national and Chapters’ awards 

programmes, and during 2019 Rutland Square hosted the 

annual EAA Awards and Architecture & Design Scotland/RIAS 

Student Awards exhibitions. Our regional Chapters also curated 

awards exhibitions recognising local, exemplary projects and 

achievements.

The national RIAS Awards and RIAS Andrew Doolan Best 

Building in Scotland Award showcase exemplar buildings, 

promote innovation and build public appreciation of design 

in Scotland. The RIAS refreshed its awards programme in 2019, 

aiming to better publicise them and help raise the ambitions of all 

who procure buildings for the benefit of the general public who 

use them.

This year 82 project submissions resulted in ten worthy RIAS 

Awards ranging from small extensions, to large educational 

Core Activity

3.

Fresh, modern design for RIAS Quarterly

RIASQuarterly
Spring 2019 Issue 37 £12.50

RIAS Awards 2019

Timber Exposed

RIASQuarterly
Winter 2019/2020 Issue 40 £12.50

42 43RIAS Quarterly Issue 37 Spring 2019 RIAS Quarterly Issue 37 Spring 2019

Entries

RIAS Awards 2019
Entries

RIAS Awards 2019

16 Church Street, Dumbarton
Keppie Design

West Dunbartonshire Council

Photo © Jim Stephenson 

2 Semple Street, Edinburgh
Michael Laird Architects

GSS Developments

Photo © David Cadzow

22 Observatory Road, Edinburgh
ZONE Architects

Ms Julia Bouvy

Photo © Chris Humphreys

37 James Watt Place, East Kilbride
O’Donnell Brown

Wm Brown & Co 

Photo © Ross Campbell Photographer

Aberdeen Music Hall, Aberdeen
BDP Architects

Aberdeen Performing Arts Ltd

Photo © David Barbour

Allermuir Health Centre, Edinburgh
Hoskins Architects

Hub South East Scotland Ltd

Photo © Dapple Photography

 

Black H, Isle of Skye
Dualchas

Private Client

Photo © Felix Mooneeran

Blackburn Partnership Centre, 
Bathgate
Hoskins Architects

Hub South East Scotland Ltd 

Photo © Dapple Photography

Blackford Road Extension, Edinburgh
Konishi Gaffney Architects

Private Client

Photo © Nanne Springer

Blackhouse, Ballater
Moxon Architects Ltd

Mr Ben Addy

Photo © Ben Addy

The Borders Distillery, Hawick
Gray Macpherson Architects LLP

The Three Stills Company Ltd 

Photo © Keith Hunter

The Botanics, Glasgow
CDA

David Wilson Homes / Barratt West Scotland

Photo © Chris Humphreys

Brodick Ferry Terminal, Isle of Arran
NORR Consultants Limited

CMAL (Caledonian Marine Assets Ltd)

Photo © Keith Hunter

Buccleuch Place Meadow Lane, 
Edinburgh
jm architects

The University of Edinburgh

Photo © Chris Humphreys

Carmichael House, Elie
Thomson Hunter Architects

Private Client

Photo © Ricky Frew Photography

An Cala, Isle of Skye
Dualchas

Private Client

Photo © David Barbour

Anderston Phases 4 & 5, Glasgow
Collective Architecture

Sanctuary Scotland Housing Association

Photo © Andrew Lee

Ashworth Laboratories, Edinburgh
Lee Boyd Ltd

University of Edinburgh

Photo © Paul Zanre

RIAS Awards 2019

Entries
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buildings, and culminated in the Macallan Distillery and Visitor 

Experience, Craigellachie, designed by Rogers Stirk Harbour + 

Partners being awarded the RIAS Andrew Doolan Best Building 

in Scotland Award 2019. The Doolan award was presented by the 

Cabinet Secretary for Communities and Local Government, Aileen 

Campbell, and Ross Findlay, nephew of the late Andrew Doolan, 

at a dinner held in the National Museum of Scotland in October.

The RIAS is very grateful for the support of the Scottish 

Government, Scottish Forestry/Wood for Good, Historic 

Environment Scotland and Saint-Gobain UK in making the 

awards possible. Judging panels were chaired by Prof. John Cole 

Hon FRIAS and Prof. Sadie Morgan, who were joined by chartered 

architects, creative industry leaders and Honorary Fellows of the 

RIAS including Catriona Hill, CH Architecture; Peter McCaughey, 

Waveparticle; Joanna van Heyningen, RIBA Representative; Henry 

McKeown, jmarchitects and Prof. Mona Siddiqui Hon FRIAS, of 

University of Edinburgh’s School of Divinity.

 The RIAS Awards Dinner, held at the Assembly Rooms in 

Edinburgh, was hosted by Sally Magnusson Hon FRIAS and 

attended by over 300 members and guests.

Scottish award-winning buildings, the Black House in Skye 

and the Macallan Distillery, Craigellachie, were recognised and 

shortlisted also for the RIBA Grand Designs House of the Year award 

and the Stirling Prize respectively.

The RIAS is keen to promote opportunities for new and 

emerging practitioners to demonstrate their skills in Scotland. 

The annual Architecture & Design Scotland and RIAS Student 

Awards showcase the work of students of architecture from all 

of the five Scottish schools. Alongside awards for urban design 

and sustainability, the Rowand Anderson Silver Medal had a 

worthy winner in Jodie Kellas Wilson, from the Mackintosh School 

of Architecture, this year. Awards were presented at the RIAS 

Convention in Edinburgh on 4th October by Ben Addy, founder of 

Moxon Architects, who also inspired students and others by giving 

the annual Andy MacMillan memorial lecture this year in Glasgow 

in September.

Judges for these awards were Caroline Parkinson and 

Daniel McHendry, A&DS Board Members; Malcolm Fraser, Fraser 

Livingstone Architects, RIAS Trustee;  Ben Addy of Moxon Architects 

and Kuan Loh, Senior Architect at the Scottish Government.

Media and Promotion
In 2019 RIAS chartered architects and practices participated in 

IWC Media’s Scotland’s Home of the Year. Page\Park Architects’ 

winning submission for The Whitehouse in Kirkcudbright, enjoyed 

significant social media coverage. It is hoped that programming for 

the new BBC Scotland Channel may provide further opportunities 

for media collaboration in 2020.

The RIAS also recently joined Scotland House in London and 

enjoyed the opportunity to meet Members there and share Scottish 

architectural design successes through their networks.

Doors Open Day
The RIAS continued its collaboration and support for the Scottish 

Civic Trust this year, helping to develop a key event in the 

Western Isles as a celebration of the organisation’s 30th birthday. 

The President of the Inverness Chapter, Stuart Bagshaw was 

instrumental in shaping the project and helped to secure Leader 

funding for the SCT. There and elsewhere our members opened 

their doors, gave talks, and developed and delivered sessions on 

tenement maintenance for the public. We plan to build on this 

relationship to contribute to Doors Open Days and to increase 

engagement with communities in 2020.

RIAS Awards 2019 – shortlist booklet, Awards Dinner

Awards Dinner photo © Malcolm Cochrane

The RIAS Awards 2019

The RIAS Awards

Meet the shortlist

2019 The RIAS Awards 2019

The Macallan Distillery and Visitor Experience, 
Craigellachie
Rogers Stirk Harbour + Partners

Client

Edrington 

QS / Project 

Manager

Equals 

Consultancy 

Structural 

Engineer / M&E 

Engineer

Arup

Main Contractor

Robertson 

Construction 

Group

Gross Internal 

Area

20,872m2

Contract Value

£140m

©
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The RIAS Awards 2019

Saint-Gobain
Emerging Architect Award

Emma Fairhurst

Collective Architecture

Collective on Calton Hill

Mark Lewis

Michael Laird Architects

Hendrick’s Gin Palace
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4.
Practice and Professional Support
It is critical that RIAS Chartered Architects are supported in their 

professional competencies and that the RIAS provides professional 

and technical support to its members to advance the architectural 

profession for the public’s benefit. RIAS expert advice is developed 

through the work of RIAS committees and working groups, 

specialist consultants, engagement with stakeholders, industry 

and the government. It is disseminated to members through 

Practice Information Notes, Practice Bulletins, CPD events, talks 

and training.

This year fees and contract administration, and, procedures to 

recover overdue fees and extensions of time were the focus of a 

CPD afternoon for practitioners. 60 members attended the event 

which was followed up with the issue of relevant Practice Notes. 

This year we will be improving CPD including collaborating with 

the RIBA to access digital joint CPD and technical advice.

RIAS Practice Service and Consultancy
RIAS Members are encouraged to join our highly regarded Practice 

Services where they receive comprehensive professional support. 

The RIAS Practice Services membership has been consistent 

throughout 2019. The Practice Department issued important 

guidance in Practice Information in relation to all aspects of 

practice and in particular on the Inspection Duties of an Architect, 

Building Information Management (BIM), Employee Ownership 

Trusts, Driving Decarbonisation and the new clauses in Section 2 

FIRE of the Technical Handbooks 2019.

RIAS Consultancy provides a service to clients assisting them 

in appointing chartered architects and design teams for their 

projects. The service has been slow to develop its market over 

the last couple of years but was commissioned by St Machar’s 

Cathedral and Harmeny School, Edinburgh in 2019, resulting in 

well-received appointments for these clients.

In 2020 the RIAS proposes to refresh its business model and 

operation for supporting both RIAS members and the public. The 

Practice Team is considering improving access to its services in 

the future and Consultancy is already talking to clients across 

Scotland.

 

Brexit
Brexit dominated much of the year’s conversations on the future 

for architects practising in Scotland and in Europe and with the 

Architects Act 1997 controlled by Westminster, the RIAS hosted two 

Brexit roundtable discussions for the UK Government welcoming 

representatives from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and 

Local Government alongside representatives from the Scottish 

Government and the ARB to engage with chartered architects in 

Scotland. RIAS architectural practices attended the roundtable 

discussions and raised business, staffing and registration concerns 

in relation to the impending UK exit from the EU ensuring 

important information was signposted to members via the 

bulletin, the website and Practice Information.

Professional and Building Standards and 
Procurement
The issues arising from Grenfell and the Edinburgh schools’ 

tragedies continues to affect the construction industry and 

with them a renewed focus on inspection of work, Architects’ 

competence and the need for appropriate CPD.

In December 2018, the Ministerial Working Group on Building 

and Fire Safety agreed the establishment of a Futures Board, 

inviting RIAS to participate, to advise and direct a programme 

aimed at improving the performance, expertise, resilience and 

sustainability of the Scottish Building Standards framework and 

services across Scotland.

The RIAS championed the development of a more robust 

compliance and procurement system for Scotland in a position 

paper presented to the Board. The RIAS will continue discussions 

with Building Standards Division to improve outcomes for 

compliance and the role of the chartered architect.

Profession and Practice

Following the formation of the RIAS Procurement Working 

Group and with the support of Honorary Fellows, including John 

Cole, significant work has been done in discussion regarding 

possible better solutions to the procurement and contract 

processes in Scotland, that presently affect and concern our 

members, and others, in the construction industry. The RIAS is 

optimistic that conversations that began this year will develop 

some significant changes in the Architect’s Appointment and look 

forward to sharing these with its members.

 

Policy and other Expert Contributions
The RIAS is active in providing its professional experience and 

expertise to those developing policy, regulation or legislative 

change directly and through the work of its Committees and 

Working Groups.

Alongside our partners at the RTPI we administer the Cross-

Party Group on Architecture and the Built Environment. This 

year this had a renewed focus around the Scottish Government’s 

Homes and Communities 2040 agenda.

The RIAS is represented on the Scottish Parliamentary 

Working Group on Tenement Maintenance. The group has 

been working to develop a set of recommendations to assist 

and encourage owners of tenement properties to maintain their 

buildings and help preserve Scotland’s tenement housing stock. 

Their report, published in June, recommends that regular building 

inspections, compulsory owners’ associations and building reserve 

funds be written into legislation.

RIAS Contracts Committee and Dispute Resolution panels 

were able to provide feedback to the Construction Industry 

Council (CIC) with a Scottish perspective to their consultation on 

a proposed Low Value Disputes Model Adjudication Procedure. 

Commenting on the CIC’s ‘Raising the Bar’ interim report on 

the proposed fire safety competency framework for England 

by representatives of the Practice Committee helped the RIBA 

formulate its formal response.

The RIAS Procurement Working Group responded to a call for 

evidence from the Scottish Parliament’s Economy, Energy and Fair 

Work Committee with input from the Contracts Committee and 

also contributed to the Inquiry into Scotland’s Construction Sector.

The RIAS provided feedback based on its Energy Section 6 

Certification specialists to the Scottish Government consultation 

on the Energy Efficiency (Private Rented Property) (Scotland) 

Regulations 2019 entitled ‘Energy Efficient Scotland’ aimed at 

making Scotland’s buildings warmer, greener and more efficient.

Early in 2019 the RIAS Conservation Committee contributed 

to Historic Environment Scotland’s (HES) review of ‘Managing 

Change in the Historic Environment’, Guidance Notes on 

Demolition of Listed Buildings and The Use and Adaptation of Listed 

Buildings. Feedback was also given on the HES policies Principles 

and Practice for Designation and Scheduled Monument Consent. 

The Conservation Committee representatives also engaged in 

Built Environment Forum Scotland workshops and the Committee 

assisted by completing surveys in relation to Principles for 

Prioritisation of the Historic Environment and similarly a Church of 

Scotland General Trustees consultation. Numerous other pertinent 

consultations were responded to by the Conservation Committee 

including Historic Environment Scotland’s draft Climate Change 

and Environmental Action Plan, HES’s role in the planning system, 

and ‘Our Place in Time’, the Historic Environment Strategy for 

Scotland.

The membership expertise gathered to form the RIAS 

Sustainability Working Group enabled the RIAS to respond to 

the Scottish Government’s Circular Economy Bill – Proposals 

for Legislation. Their letter to Roseanna Cunningham MSP, 

Cabinet Secretary for Environment, Climate Change and Land 

Reform, highlighted the omission of construction and the built 

environment as a key sector in this economy and they will be 

assisting with further discussions in 2020. 

Members contributed to the Scottish Government’s Housing 

to 2040 consultation programme, engaging with communities 
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and politicians, the outcomes from which will inform the RIAS 

response and advice in 2020.

Going forwards the RIAS will be collaborating with our 

partners to help shape the agenda around Architecture and the 

Built Environment for the new parliamentary term in 2021.

Professional Accreditation
Since 1995, the Royal Incorporation of Architects in Scotland has 

offered accreditation schemes to its members who demonstrate 

that architects are suitably qualified to act as lead professionals in 

key areas of expertise and as a means of meeting the requirements 

of funding bodies, employers and clients.

RIAS Expert Witness Panel

In February 2019, 20 RIAS members successfully sought 

accreditation or re- accreditation to the RIAS Expert Witness Panel, 

providing expertise to clients and the development sector across 

Scotland.

 

Conservation Accreditation

RIAS Conservation Accreditation demonstrates that architects are 

suitably qualified and experienced to act as the lead professional 

in grant aided conservation work.

The RIAS Conservation Accreditation scheme received 19 

applications from architects wishing to either renew their existing 

accreditation or upgrade to the higher level and 4 new accredited 

applications.

On 3 May 2019 Historic Environment Scotland (HES), in 

conjunction with RIAS and RICS held the first in a series of CPD 

events at the Engine Shed in Stirling covering a range of topics 

relating to conservation. HES intends to create more events to 

meet the needs of building professionals and extend collaboration 

with RIAS and other professional organisations. The Engine Shed 

also hosted the RIAS Conservation Seminar ‘Climate Change, 

Conservation and Conservative Repairs’ at the end of October. 

Members had the opportunity to participate in an ‘open hour’ 

aimed at individuals contemplating accreditation, linking them 

with accredited architects and assessors.

Energy Certification

The new Non-domestic Section 6 – Energy Certification Scheme 

has now been available for some time and has attracted 

subscribers who have started issuing Certificates of Design. The 

number of dwellings covered by a certificate this year was nearly 

2,000 and the total has now reached over 15,200. The total value 

of warrantable works covered in the year was just under £250m 

bringing the total to nearly £1.75billion. The RIAS has reapplied to 

continue to provide the Scheme, as are all Scheme Providers.

A&DS and RIAS Scottish Student Awards for Architecture 2019

© Malcolm Cochrane
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The RIAS plays an important role in supporting its members to 

best use their professional skills and creativity to help individuals, 

communities and businesses to develop a higher quality, more 

sustainable built environment that will stand the test of time. 

We also work to connect our members with the public and local 

communities and to develop working partnerships with key 

stakeholders and Scottish Government.

Many of our Members are also members of the Royal Institute 

of British Architects (RIBA) and 2019 saw both organisations 

continue to work together, along with members of the Royal 

Society of Ulster Architects and the Royal Society of Architects in 

Wales to address issues of common concern to all UK architects 

and on matters determined at Westminster

Working with others, for the overall public good that better 

architecture can bring, is a key part of our new five year strategy. 

Creating Space for Inspiring Conversations was launched in 

October 2019 and in line with our new way of working was 

led by and shaped by our members, all of whom are active in 

their Chapters and communities across Scotland. The strategy 

highlights our passion to ensure and promote better dialogue 

about the built environment and to work collaboratively with 

individuals and communities.

The Strategy sets out our mission and will be the foundation 

for inspiring conversations, and focused working, with the public 

and stakeholders across Scotland in the years ahead. We are 

currently developing ‘Conversations’ as a template to make the 

RIAS more accessible, and ensure our work is more widely known 

by members and the public alike.

We are also developing our strategy with RIAS Services, 

Committees, Working Groups and Chapters and together we will 

work to support members’ practice and business development 

and help deliver our collective commitments.

Climate Emergency
In 2019 the Scottish Government issued its statement in response 

to the Global Climate Emergency. Global warming, and the part 

we play in it is something that none of us can ignore and a RIAS 

Sustainability Working Group has been established to develop the 

RIAS work on climate resilience and to champion sustainability 

issues for our members and the public. This Working Group is large 

and mainly operating using Basecamp. It is aiming to work with 

all other RIAS Working Groups, Committees and Chapters with a 

view to ensuring sustainable design and development principles 

become integral to all our work across the organisation.

Architects of the Future?
The RIAS Strategy work identified that it is vital that RIAS reach 

out to the next generation and involve them in shaping our work 

and future priorities. In 2020 it is hoped to develop outreach and 

discussions with young practitioners and students to identify how 

RIAS can best support them and how they can contribute to the 

work of our Committees and Working Groups.

Developing Key Partnerships
Our strategic ‘Inspiring Collaboration’ theme aims to harness the 

strength of our existing relationships and work with others in 

the built environment to develop partnerships that will improve 

design and construction quality.

In 2019, for the first time, the RIAS Commercial Manager 

worked with Impact Engagement Events on a series of half and 

full day technical events on key topics including: Places and 

Spaces for Health and Wellbeing; Sustainable Building; Retrofit; 

Communities for a Changing Population; Disused and Derelict 

Land Use and Assets and Technology and the Built Environment.

The RIAS also increased its presence and was recognised as a 

supporting partner at various partner and industry events:

5.
Future Focus, Strategy and Partnerships

Pages from RIAS Inspiring

Creating space for 
inspiring conversations

RIAS
The Royal Incorporation
of Architects in Scotland
Aonachadh Rìoghail nan Ailtire ann an Alba

8 RIAS Inspiring Conversations

#RIASInspiringConversations

Environment
Our members are skilled 
and have a wide range of 
experience from ensuring the 
sensitive reuse or repurposing 
of buildings to working with 
partners to create well-
designed new developments. 

Great urban design and 
planning saves energy and 
makes the most of our valuable 
and finite global resources.

We are passionate about 
the significant role the built 
environment plays in helping 
Scotland to address the 
climate emergency, inequality, 
poor health, well-being, 
our ageing population and 
challenged public services.

The RIAS will help Scotland to benefit from 
this by:

• championing an environmentally 
sustainable and socially responsible 
approach to design and development 
that protects biodiversity and tackles 
the climate emergency

• working with the public to challenge 
industry and government to care for 
and protect Scotland’s built heritage

• encouraging the reuse of existing 
building stock to capitalise on 
environmental benefits and existing 
embodied energy

• promoting the value of improving the 
whole life performance of buildings

• promoting the importance of long-term 
thinking and stewardship in the built 
environment

6 RIAS Inspiring Conversations

#RIASInspiringConversations

People
Working environments 
that are inclusive and 
encourage individuals 
to develop are vital to 
Scotland’s future.

At the RIAS we want to 
help to ensure that we 
play our part in unlocking 
the potential of people 
and communities across 
Scotland through 
encouraging and 
supporting our members 
to invest in their clients 
and communities.

Specifically, we will:

• contribute to the wellbeing of individuals 
and communities by applying the skills 
of our members to ensure the design 
of buildings and spaces helps to tackle 
issues that affect everyone’s lives including 
education, health and wellbeing and the 
climate emergency

• increase understanding of the value and 
benefits of the architect’s contribution to 
socially responsible design and the built 
environment sector

• champion a more sustainable sector with 
fair fee levels and more career opportunities

• support young practitioners to develop 
their practice and ensure that they receive 
fair pay for their work

• investigate barriers to participation in the 
profession at every level and collaborate 
with partners and educators to identify 
ways to remove them

7 RIAS Inspiring Conversations

Contribute to well being in education
Powell Hall 
University of St Andrews
HLM Architects
Image: David Barbour

Invest in communities
Broomlands Primary School
Stallan-Brand
Image: Andrew Lee

The next generation
Scott Sutherland School of Architecture students
Image: Malcolm Cochrane
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We were a partner for ScotBuild giving a platform for RIAS 

Practices to be involved at the event’s Architecture Summit and 

for RIAS Architects to make a presentation, with RIAS President, 

Robin Webster as the Keynote speaker. We hope to continue our 

participation with ScotBuild 2020 in Glasgow and develop further 

links with them for the RIAS Convention.

 RIAS practices who work in the educational sector exhibited 

in the Community Classroom and Archischools sections of the 

Education Buildings Scotland two-day event and contributed to 

key discussions alongside other partners and stakeholders.

The RIAS President spoke at the Sustainable Building event 

in April and Chaired ‘Retrofit’ in September. Retrofit Scotland is a 

collaboration of organisations sharing best practice on Retrofit, a 

key digital tool for architects. In return for promotion through our 

membership and professional network using our on-line portals, 

RIAS members benefited from discounted tickets.

In 2020 the RIAS will promote Zero Waste Scotland’s 

(ZWS) Resource Efficiency Programme to our membership. In 

collaboration with Allan Sandilands of Resource Futures we will 

focus on the circular economy/circular design. This is the first part 

of a wider engagement with ZWS anticipated in 2020, including 

support to their programmes with Planning Aid Scotland.

To highlight the importance of sustainable development, the 

RIAS are delighted to have secured a new RIAS Award for Circular 

Design sponsored by Zero Waste Scotland for the next three years.

Based on a policy intended to ensure that commercial partners 

reflect RIAS values and aims, the RIAS has established strong 

relationships with advertisers and sponsors. These links establish 

important connections with built environment professionals and 

the development industry. Sponsor and advertising support are 

critical in helping to fund the Quarterly, and other RIAS activities 

including training events for members.

Last year we exceeded our income targets and were able to 

develop our products and take events to a wider audience. Around 

£70,200 of sponsorship and advertising assisted the publication of 

the RIAS Quarterly and supported various RIAS organised events. 

Thank you to our partners Lathams, Tobermore, GEZE, Lockton, 

Nevin, Hardies, Gartcarron, Kingspan, Renolit and Wernick 

Buildings. We are already discussing with them and others how 

we can collaborate in 2020.

RIAS Events 2019

© Malcolm Cochrane
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Organisation

6.
The RIAS is well advanced in reshaping its governance 

arrangements. The organisation has developed a new structure 

that will enable it to ensure better oversight and quicker decision-

making. It is prioritising a smaller board advised by a representative 

Council supported by focused Committees and Working Groups. 

This will require Privy Council approval and changes to its Charter. 

These will be progressed in the year ahead.

RIAS has learned that many members are unclear about how 

the organisation works and is prioritising making itself more 

understood and accessible.

Below are some key facts about the history, original purpose 

and organisational structure of this organisation which underpin 

its relevance and purpose today, together with information about 

recent changes that have been implemented and are planned.

Brief History, Purpose and Operating Structure
The Royal Incorporation of Architects in Scotland (RIAS) (The Royal 

Incorporation) was constituted in Edinburgh in 1916 to “...organise 

and unite in fellowship the Architects of Scotland… to promote the 

value of architecture and architects in Scotland”.

RIAS is incorporated by Royal Charter and is a charity 

registered in Scotland.

The Royal Charter is the instrument of the Incorporation, 

granted by the Queen, which grants the RIAS independent legal 

personality and defines its objectives, constitution and powers to 

govern its own affairs.

As the professional body for Chartered Architects in Scotland, 

the RIAS is the foremost architectural professional institute in the 

country dealing with architecture and the built environment.

The principal Object of the Incorporation is to promote the 

value of architecture and architects in Scotland. The full list of 

Objects is set out in paragraph 5 of the Charter. (There have been 

no changes in objectives since the last annual report.)

The Incorporation is operated under the rules of its Royal 

Charter and Bye-laws. The Charter was originally granted in 

May 1922, and most recently revised in December 2003. Having 

established that the Incorporations Bye-laws had not been 

properly constituted in 2003, new Interim Bye-laws were approved 

by the membership at a SGM held on the 28th June 2018, which 

included improvements that allowed nominees for President 

to be drawn from the Chartered Membership, the President to 

be voted in by Chartered Members via a ballot and Student and 

Associate members to vote for a maximum of 2 Student/Associate 

representatives on Council by ballot. Further changes to the rules 

that will be required to reflect and facilitate improved governance 

arrangements will be developed during 2020.

The Incorporation is a membership body with six Chapters. It 

has the following categories of Chartered Membership; Fellows, 

Academic Fellows, Retired Fellows, Members, Academic Members, 

Retired Members and the following non-Chartered classes; 

Students, Associates, Affiliates and Honorary Fellows. Applications 

for membership are approved by the Council and members sign 

a declaration confirming adherence to the RIAS Charter and Bye-

laws.

The Incorporation is run by and is the responsibility of the 

members of the Council, who are elected or co-opted under 

the terms of the Bye-laws and who are charity trustees for the 

purposes of charity law. Members of Council may be appointed by 

election from the membership, by Chapter nomination or through 

co-option by Council in accordance with the rules set out in the 

Bye-laws. The names of officers and other members of Council who 

served during the year are shown in Section 7.

Currently control of the RIAS and its affairs are vested in the 

Council, who operate subject to the provisions of the Charter 

and Bye-laws. Council has overall responsibility for the strategic 

management and operations of the Incorporation (including 

governance responsibilities under Charity Law). Council met 6 

times last year.

This management by Council is supported and overseen by 

means of Standing and Interim Committees, and by Working 

Groups who assist with developing core areas of business. The 

introduction of Interim Governance and Interim Audit and Finance 

Committees has ensured that improvements to the governance 

and financial scrutiny of the Incorporation has continued and has 

facilitated a move to new permanent committees in 2020.

The RIAS approved the move to a new governance structure 

in June 2019 and has put in place transition arrangements that 

will allow the organization to refresh its business and operation 

in 2020. An Interim Non-Executive Board will provide oversight 

and scrutiny for the RIAS’s duties and responsibilities under law. 

Supported by Audit and Finance, Governance and Policy and its 

company arm, RIAS Services Ltd, the Board will operate with the 

guidance of the RIAS President/Past President, the membership 

through Chapters, members outside Scotland and young 

practitioners’ representation.

This streamlined trustee body will allow the RIAS Council and 

its representative membership from across Scotland to focus on 

architecture and the profession.

A robust Regulation structure, put in place in 2019 sets out 

policies, procedures and guidance to support the operation of the 

organisation.

The Trustee induction programme was implemented in 2019, 

supported by our external partner at Arts and Business Scotland.

Executive Staff Team
Day-to-day operational management is delegated to the 

administration team (15 staff) of the Incorporation which continues 

to be led by the Acting Secretary.

We said a fond farewell to Hayley Kyle in August 2019 after 

four years, to take up a role with architectural practice Douglas 

Strachan. In late September we welcomed Joanna Robson to the 

team as Administration Assistant.

Finance and Risk Management
Remuneration for staff has been scrutinised by the Interim Audit 

and Finance Committee and presented within a staff budget to 

the trustees as part of the annual budget. The RIAS employ one 

key management staff member who is appointed to the post on 

an ‘acting up’ basis. The remuneration for this post was approved 

by Council.

The RIAS Corporate Risk Register is supported by the RIAS 

Improvement Plan which details the rebuilding procedures and 

changes, and an outline of the timescales for their delivery. The 

principal risks are identified, and mitigation strategies agreed. 

As at December 2019, RIAS Council identified the following as 

the most significant risks under the risk categories of Corporate, 

Financial, External and Operational categories.

Risk Description – Corporate/ External

RIAS is non-compliant with Charitable objectives and 

requirements of OSCR

Strategy to Manage Risk

RIAS should adopt best practice in line with OSCR targeted 

regulation and ensure annual returns to OSCR are effectively 

managed.

RIAS met with OSCR in February 2019 to review the 

changes and improvements to RIAS Governance and 

procedures and agreed to continue this dialogue. The Annual 

Report was submitted by the 30th September 2019, following 

the improved procedures and approvals process. A copy of 

the Independent Review was shared with OSCR and they 

were updated with details confirming the new approved 

governance, including transition arrangements, in January 

2020.
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Risk Description – External / Corporate

Failure to effectively address internal or external complaints

Strategy to Manage Risk

RIAS should implement, manage and maintain a complaints 

policy with defined timeframes for responses. A complaints or 

disputes register should be maintained with regular updates 

to Council with assurance from Audit and Finance.

The RIAS appointed an Ombudsperson and HR Consultant 

to work alongside Short Life Complaints and the HR Working 

Group in administering the complaints process and are 

expected to report in the first quarter of 2020.

Risk Description – Operational/Reputational

The RIAS is not seen as representative and lacks diversity 

across the organisation and on Council. Measures to tackle 

representation from under-represented groups are ineffective 

leading to reputational loss.

Strategy to Manage Risk

RIAS should monitor its representation and pro-actively seek 

to address diversity. Consideration to using intermediary or 

advisory groups to support the RIAS should be considered. A 

policy statement should be endorsed by Council.

As a step towards improved representation, the RIAS 

approved Interim Bye-Laws that allow the RIAS President 

to be elected from and by the Chartered Membership class 

and to hold student elections. New working groups and 

committees have enabled representative groups to become 

involved in RIAS business. A nominations committee is in 

place to ensure that the RIAS has Trustees, with the correct 

skills and experience to:

• exercise overall control of the organisation’s current 

business operations,

• manage the charity’s resources responsibly,

• set the RIAS’ strategy, develop it as required and 

oversee its implementation,

• ensure that the needs of the RIAS’ beneficiaries are put 

first,

• keep the RIAS true to its purpose.

 

Risk Description– Financial/Corporate

Management of RIAS funds or cash flow negatively impacts on 

reserves or creates liquidity challenges.

Strategy to Manage Risk

(a) The Annual budget should be prepared and approved by 

Council with re-forecasts throughout the year,

(b) commitments only entered into if they are within the 

budget approved by Council.

(c) cash flow projections are prepared and monitored in line 

with approved budget.

The RIAS moved to a permanent Audit and Finance 

Committee for 2020, who will work with the RIAS 

Accountants and Auditors to provide oversight and scrutiny. 

An Interim Non-Executive Board will also operate in line with 

the governance transition arrangements and will oversee 

the completion of the action plan and a move to develop a 

business plan to guide the operation of the organization 

moving into 2021.

The RIAS will review its approach to risks and whether further 

resources or increased measures to mitigate risk should be 

deployed as it continues to build a robust operating structure.

Reserves Policy
The Trustees approved F.8 Free Reserves Policy in 2019 – The RIAS 

free reserves should equate to a minimum of three months operating 

costs for the RIAS Group.

The Policy is supported by a Free Reserves Procedure which 

sets out how these costs are calculated.

Going Concern and Future Prospects
The COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in restrictions on the charity’s 

activities however, the Trustees have cut costs and have prepared 

detailed forecasts to ensure the charity has sufficient available 

funds to meet its needs for the foreseeable future. The Trustees are 

continuing to monitor the situation closely to allow them to take 

further action, if necessary, to ensure that the charity meets all 

liabilities as they fall due. Therefore, the financial statements have 

been prepared on a going concern principle.
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Company Details
Scottish Charity reference

SC 002753

Address of Principal Office

15 Rutland Square

Edinburgh EH1 2BE

Christine Palmer

Kerr Robertson

Shane Rodgers

Ben Scrimgeour (to Sept 2019)

Gordon G Smith

Nicholas Taggart (from April 2019)

Executive staff

Acting Secretary

Karen Stevenson (from December 2017)

Charity Details, Trustees, Staff and Advisors

7.
RIAS Trustees
(Members of RIAS Council)

President

Robin Webster OBE PRIAS

Past President

Stewart Henderson PPRIAS (to June 2019)

Chapter Presidents

Aberdeen Society of Architects

Richard Slater (from March 2019) 

David Chouman (to March 2019) 

Dundee Institute of Architects

Jon Frullani (from March 2019)

Diarmid McLachlan (to March 2019)

Edinburgh Architectural Association

Ben Rainger (from April 2019)

Julie Wilson (to April 2019)

Glasgow Institute of Architects

Isabel Garriga (from April 2018)

Inverness Architectural Association

Stuart Bagshaw (from April 2018)

Stirling Society of Architects

Liliane McGeoch (fto December 2019)

Advisors

Bankers

The Royal Bank of Scotland plc

Edinburgh West End Office

142 – 144 Princes Street

Edinburgh EH2 4EQ

Auditors

Whitelaw Wells

9 Ainslie Place

Edinburgh EH3 6AT

Accountants

Chiene & Tait

61 Dublin Street

Edinburgh EH3 6NL

Investment Managers

Murray Asset Management

3 Glenfinlas Street

Edinburgh EH3 6AQ

Chapter Representatives / 
Incorporation Representatives / 
Co-options

Dr Gordon Anderson (to Oct 2019)

Dr Richard Atkins (previously co-opted)

Karen Anderson 

Jude Barber

David Chouman (from March 2019)

Ally Croll (to Feb 2019)

Timothy Crone (from April 2019)

Jocelyn Cunliffe (previously co-opted)

Ben Derbyshire (to Sept 2019)

Gordon Duffy

Neil Ferguson (to April 2019)

Malcolm Fraser

Christina Gaiger (from June 2019)

Euan Geddes

Charles Girdler (to June 2019)

Michael Good (from June 2019)

William Gunn

Alice Henderson (from June 2019)

Sholto Humphries

Michael Jarvis (to Nov 2019)

Alan Jones PRIBA (from Sept 2019)

Helen Lucas

Guy Maxwell (from April 2019)

Diarmid McLachlan (from March 2019) 

Nicola McLachlan (from June 2019)

Fraser Middleton

Stephen Miles (from April 2019)

Ian Muir (from March 2019)

Advisors and Partners in 2020
The RIAS is delighted to be joined by a new 

RIAS Legal Advisor in 2020. MacRoberts 

will support the RIAS with its legal 

obligations, its services to its members 

and its programme of operational 

improvement through an appointment 

over 3 years.

The RIAS Accountant (Chiene and Tait) 

and External Auditors (Whitelaw Wells) 

services will be retained through 2020.
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8.
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of The Royal 

Incorporation of Architects in Scotland (the ‘charity’) for the 

year ended 31 December 2019, which comprise the Consolidated 

Statement of Financial Activities (incorporating the Income 

and Expenditure Account), the charity Statement of Financial 

Activities (incorporating the Income and Expenditure Account),the 

consolidated Balance Sheet, the charity balance sheet, the 

Statement of Cash Flows and notes to the financial statements, 

including a summary of significant accounting policies. The 

financial reporting framework that has been applied in their 

preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting 

Standards, including FRS102 ‘The Financial Reporting Standard 

applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland’ (United Kingdom 

Accounting Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

In our opinion the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the state of the charity's and 

group affairs as at 31 December 2019 and of its income and 

expenditure for the year then ended; 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United 

Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of 

the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and 

regulation 8 of the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 

2006 (as amended).

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 

Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs UK) and applicable law. Our 

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 

Auditors' responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

section of our report. We are independent of the charity in 

accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our 

audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC's 

Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities 

in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit 

evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 

a basis for our opinion. 

Conclusions Relating to Going Concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in 

relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to report to you where: 

• the trustees use of the going concern basis of accounting in 

the preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate; 

or 

• the trustees have not disclosed in the financial statements 

any identified material uncertainties that may cast significant 

doubt about the charity's ability to continue to adopt the 

going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least 

twelve months from the date when the financial statements 

are authorised for issue. 

 

Other Information
The other information comprises the information in the annual 

report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report 

thereon. The trustees are responsible for the other information. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the 

other information and we do not express any form of assurance 

conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our 

responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 

consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 

with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in 

the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If 

we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material 

misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a 

material misstatement in the financial statements or a material 

misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we 

have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement 

of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Council Members (Trustees) 
of the Royal Incorporation of Architects in Scotland for the year ended 31 December 2019

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Matters on Which we are Required to Report by 
Exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in 

relation to which the Charities and Trustees Investment (Scotland) 

Act 2005 and the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 

(as amended) requires us to report to you if, in our opinion: 

• the information given in the financial statements is 

inconsistent in any material respect with the trustees’ annual 

report; or

• Proper accounting records have not been kept; or

• The financial statements are not in agreement with the 

accounting records; or 

• we have not received all the information and explanations we 

require for our audit

Responsibilities of Trustees
As explained more fully in the trustees’ responsibilities statement 

set out on page 21, the trustees are responsible for the preparation 

of the financial statements which give a true and fair view, and 

for such internal control as the trustees determine is necessary to 

enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the trustees are 

responsible for assessing the charity's ability to continue as a 

going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 

concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 

the trustees either intend to liquidate the charity or to cease 

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Statements
We have been appointed as auditor under section 44(1)(c) of the 

Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and report in 

accordance with the Act and relevant regulations made or having 

effect thereunder.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 

whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 

auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 

is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 

conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a 

material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 

from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or 

in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 

the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 

financial statements. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of 

the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting 

Council's website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This 

description forms part of our Report of the Auditors. 

Use of our Report
This report is made solely to the charity's members, as a body, 

in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 

2006, and the trustees, as a body, in accordance with section 44(1)

(c) of the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005, 

regulation 10 of the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 

2006 (as amended). Our audit work has been undertaken so that 

we might state to the charity's members those matters we are 

required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other 

purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept 

or assume responsibility to anyone other than the charity and the 

charity's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or 

for the opinions we have formed.

Whitelaw Wells 

Statutory Auditor, 9 Ainslie Place, Edinburgh EH3 6AS

Whitelaw Wells is eligible to act as an auditor in terms of section 1212 of the Companies Act 2006.
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Funds & Reserves Policy

The Trustees approved F.8 Free Reserves Policy in 2019 - The RIAS 

free reserves should equate to a minimum of 3 months operating 

costs for the RIAS Group. The Policy is supported by a Free Reserves 

Procedure which will set out how these costs are calculated.

Total funds at the year ended 31 December 2019 is £1,205,108. 

This includes £295,812 in the endowment fund and £73,876 in 

restricted income funds. A total of £396,691 is held in group 

designated funds at the year end and includes a total of £303,670 

representing the book value of tangible fixed assets and unlisted 

investments, which are not readily realisable, £5,000 for Directory 

costs, £9,788 designated as a contingency fund for non-routine 

expenditure by the Chapters and £78,233 given to RIAS Services 

Limited in the past to fund the publication of area guides. 

There remains a balance of £271,675 in the general fund 

representing the ‘free reserves’ of the charity. This is equivalent to 

around three months of regular unrestricted expenditure. 

Asset Valuation

The book value of tangible fixed assets is represented by the 

revaluation reserve of £167,054 with the balance of £214,623 in 

the designated fixed asset fund (£381,677 in total per note 15). The 

written down amounts of £346,224 for heritable property and 

£18,513 for antique and fine art furnishings include assets which 

were revalued in 1987 and 1988 respectively. In the opinion of the 

trustees the current market value of these assets is considerably 

in excess of the current book values shown in the accounts. A 

valuation for the heritable property in July 2007 indicated a 

market value in the range £1.2 to £1.3 million at that time. 

Statement of Responsibilities of the Council 
Members in Relation to Financial Statements and 
Accounting Records 
The members of Council, as trustees of the charity, are responsible 

for preparing the Report of the Council and the financial 

statements in accordance with applicable law and United 

Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally 

Accepted Accounting Practice).

The law applicable to charities in Scotland requires the Council 

members to prepare financial statements for each financial year 

which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the charity 

and the group and of the incoming resources and application of 

resources of the charitable group for that period. In preparing 

these financial statements, the Council members are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them 

consistently;

• observe the methods and principles in the Charities SORP 2015 

(FRS 102);

• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and 

prudent;

• state whether applicable accounting standards have been 

followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and 

explained in the financial statements;

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis 

unless it is inappropriate to presume that the charity will 

continue in operation.

The Council members are responsible for keeping proper 

accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at 

any time the financial position of the charity and enable them to 

ensure that the financial statements comply with the Charities and 

Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005, the Charities Accounts 

(Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended) and the provisions of the 

charity’s constitution. They are also responsible for safeguarding 

9.
Financial Review and Results for the Year
The results for the year are set out in the Statement of Financial 

Activities (SOFA) on page 35, which shows the consolidated 

income and expenditure for the charity and its subsidiary trading 

company, RIAS Services Limited. Separate results for the charity 

alone are shown in the Income & Expenditure account on page 36 

and results for the subsidiary company are summarised in note 5 

on page 44. 

The overall results for the year, as set out in the SOFA, show a 

net increase in funds of £95,774, comprising an increase of £63,369 

in unrestricted funds, a decrease of £2,200 in restricted income 

funds and an increase of £34,605 in the Martin Jones Award 

endowment fund. 

Income for the year ended 31 December 2019 is £1,145,059 and 

this is an overall decrease of £75,554 from the previous year. The 

main reason for the decrease relates to the consolidation income 

adjustment within the group accounts in the previous year to 

recognise a contribution of £78,233 towards the publication of 

guides and other titles. 

Expenditure for the year ended 31 December 2019 is £1,098,400 

compared to £1,048,709 in the previous year. Office costs, legal 

fees and expenses for members are the main contributes for this 

increase. 

The main source of regular income for the Incorporation 

is membership subscriptions and these provided income of 

£591,549 (2018: £593,365) during the year, representing 54% of the 

unrestricted gross income. 

Income for awards and grants is shown in note 4 and 

includes £30,000 for the Doolan award (£20,000 from the Scottish 

Government and £10,000 donation), £33,550 in sponsorship and 

other awards, £26,553 for awards entry fees and £16,965 for the 

awards dinner. Expenditure on awards and grants is £98,770 and 

is shown in note 8 of the accounts. This includes £45,830 for the 

Doolan award, £11,485 for award prizes and £41,455 for awards 

events and judging costs as well as an allocation of RIAS staff cost.

The Incorporation derives income from the profits of its trading 

subsidiary, RIAS Services Limited, which are paid over to the 

charity under gift aid. The results for the subsidiary company are 

summarised in note 5 and show a net profit of £1,858, compared to 

a net profit of £10,678 in the previous year. 

The restricted income funds (see note 20) comprise the awards 

and prize funds, the benevolent fund, the Scottish Community 

projects fund (SCPF) and the ASSA fund, held for continuing work 

of the former Association of Scottish Schools of Architecture. 

Income comprised sponsorship and grants of £35,000 for the 

various awards and £1,500 for ASSA. Total restricted income funds 

carried forward amount to £73,873.

The value of the Martin Jones Award endowment fund has 

increased by £34,605 to £295,812, which includes investments at a 

valuation of £240,074. No prizes were paid out this year.

 

Investments 

The Incorporation relies on advice from external investment 

advisers for discretionary management of its listed investments. 

The investment objective is to achieve a balance between income 

and capital growth with a medium risk strategy. The value of 

investments at the year ended 31 December 2019 is £322,763 and 

this was an increase of £38,181 in value. 

The Incorporation holds one sixth of the share capital of 

Scottish Buildings Contract Committee Limited (SBCC) as an 

unlisted investment. The estimated valuation of this investment, 

based on the latest available balance sheet, is £48,797 - an increase 

of £6,096 in the year (see note 16). 

The Incorporation also holds a rare book as a longer-term 

investment – an original volume of poems by Robert Burns, ‘The 

Kilmarnock Edition’. The book was independently valued during 

the year by Lyon and Turnbull Ltd and the value is deemed to 

approximate its original cost in 2012.

Financial Details
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• the Council members have taken all steps that they ought to 

have taken to make themselves aware of any relevant audit 

information and to establish that the auditor is aware of that 

information. 

Approved by the members of Council and signed on their behalf 

by:

Robin Webster OBE

President

8th April 2020

    Unrestricted   Restricted   Endowment   Total   Total 

  Note  Funds   Income Funds   Fund   2019  2018 

    £   £   £   £   £

Income from: 

Charitable activities:

 Membership subscriptions 2  591,549   —   —   591,549  593,365 

 Membership activities 3  44,958   —   —   44,958  50,061 

 Awards and grants  4  72,068   36,500   —   108,568  110,029 

Trading activities:      

 Services to architects 5  234,763   —   —   234,763  217,731 

 Publications and products 5  106,752   —   —   106,752  99,849 

 Consultancy and other services 5  36,667   —   —   36,667  52,457 

 Future publications    —   —   —  —  78,233 

 Rental income   10,000   —   —  10,000  8,400 

Investment income 6  6,376   —   5,426   11,802  10,489 

Total Income   1,103,133   36,500   5,426   1,145,059  1,220,614 

Expenditure on:

Charitable activities:      

 Membership activities costs 7  599,856  —   2,245   602,101  546,022 

 Awards and grants expenditure costs 8  63,770   35,000   —   98,770  85,407 

 Festival of Architecture costs 9 —   —   —   —  750 

Raising funds:      

Trading activities:      

 Services to architects costs 5  190,734   —   —   190,734  183,203 

 Publications and products costs 5  132,815   —  —  132,815  114,929 

 Consultancy and other services costs 5  52,775   —   —   52,775  61,227 

 Investment manager fees    312   —  2,685   2,997  1,959 

Other expenditure:      

 Exceptional governance costs 10  18,208   —  —  18,208  55,212 

Total Expenditure   1,058,470   35,000   4,930   1,098,400  1,048,709 

Net income before gains on investments   44,663   1,500   496   46,659   171,905

Net gains/(loss) on investments   15,006  —   34,109   49,115  (18,801) 

Net income   59,669   1,500   34,605   95,774  153,104 

Transfers between funds   3,700   (3,700)  —   —  — 

Net Movement in Funds   63,369   (2,200)  34,605   95,774   153,104 

Funds brought forward    772,051   76,076   261,207   1,109,334  956,231 

Funds carried forward 20  835,420   73,876   295,812   1,205,108  1,109,335 

All activities relate to continuing operations. There are no other recognised gains or losses in the year.

The notes on pages 39 to 63 form part of these financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities
(incorporating the Income and Expenditure Account) for the year ended 31 December 2019

the assets of the charity and hence taking reasonable steps for the 

prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Council members are responsible for the maintenance and 

integrity of the charity and financial information included on the 

charity’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing 

the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may 

differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Statement of Disclosure to Auditors 
In so far as the Council members are aware:

• there is no relevant audit information of which the charity’s 

auditor is unaware; and
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  Group:  Charity:

  Note 2019 2018 2019 2018

    £ £ £ £

Fixed Assets

Tangible assets  15 381,677  386,300  381,677  386,300 

Listed Investments  16 322,763  284,582  322,763  284,582 

Unlisted investments  16 89,047  82,951  89,047   82,951 

Investment in subsidiary at cost    —   —  100  100 

   793,487  753,833  793,587  753,933 

Current Assets

Stocks and work in progress  17 58,372  63,365  17,434  19,532 

Debtors  18 81,772  62,533  33,363  14,926 

Cash at bank and in hand   559,033  540,467  549,033  530,922 

   699,177  666,365  599,830  565,380 

Creditors

Amounts falling due within one year  19 287,556  310,864  266,542  288,212 

Net Current Assets   411,621  355,501  333,288  277,168 

Net Assets   1,205,108  1,109,334  1,126,875  1,031,101 

Funds

Unrestricted Funds

General fund  20 271,675  209,779  271,675  209,779 

Revaluation reserve  23 167,054  170,054  167,054  170,054 

Designated funds  20 396,691  392,218  318,458  313,985 

Total Unrestricted Funds   835,420  772,051  757,187  693,818 

Restricted Funds

Endowment fund  20 295,812  261,207  295,812   261,207 

Restricted income funds  20 73,876  76,076  73,876  76,076 

Total Restricted Funds   369,688  337,283  369,688  337,283 

Total Funds   1,205,108  1,109,334  1,126,875  1,031,101 

The financial statements on pages 35 to 37 were approved by the Council members on 8th April 2020 and are signed on their behalf by:

Robin Webster OBE Christine Palmer

President Trustee

Consolidated and Charity Balance Sheets
at 31 December 2019

     Unrestricted   Restricted   Endowment   Total   Total 

   Note  Funds   Income Funds   Fund   2019  2018

    £   £   £   £   £

Income from:

Charitable activities:

 Membership subscriptions  2  591,549   —   —   591,549  593,365 

 Membership activities  3  44,958   —   —   44,958  50,061 

 Awards and grants   4  72,068   36,500   —   108,568  110,029 

 Rental income    10,000   —  —   10,000  8,400 - 

Investment income  6  6,376   —   5,426   11,802  10,489 

Other income - Gift Aid     1,858   —   —   1,858  10,678 

Total Income    726,809   36,500   5,426   768,735  783,022 

Expenditure on:

Charitable activities:

 Membership activities costs  7  599,856   —   2,245   602,101  546,023 

 Awards and grants expenditure costs  8  63,770   35,000   —   98,770  85,407 

 Festival of Architecture costs  9  —   —   —   —  750 

Raising funds:

 Investment manager fees     312   —   2,685   2,997  1,959 

Other expenditure:

 Exceptional governance costs  10  18,208   —   —   18,208  55,212 

Total Expenditure    682,146   35,000   4,930   722,076  689,351 

      

Net income before gains on investments    44,663   1,500   496   46,659  93,671 

Net gains/(loss) on investments    15,006   —   34,109   49,115  (18,801) 

Net income    59,669   1,500   34,605   95,774  74,870 

Transfers between funds    3,700   (3,700)  —   —   — 

Net Movement in Funds    63,369   (2,200)  34,605   95,774  74,870 

Funds brought forward     693,818   76,076   261,207   1,031,101  956,231 

Funds carried forward  20  757,187   73,876   295,812   1,126,875  1,031,101 

All activities relate to continuing operations. There are no other recognised gains or losses in the year.

The notes on pages 39 to 63 form part of these financial statements. The notes on pages 39 to 63 form part of these financial statements.

Statement of Financial Activities
(incorporating the Income and Expenditure Account) for the year ended 31 December 2019
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Basis of preparing the financial statements
The financial statements are a consolidation of the Royal 

Incorporation of Architects in Scotland (‘the charity’) and its 

wholly owned subsidiary company, RIAS Services Limited (see 

note 6). Separate results are shown for the charity in the income & 

expenditure account on page 36, the balance sheet on page 37 and 

the Statement of Cash Flows on page 38.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance 

with the Charities SORP (FRS 102) ‘Accounting and Reporting 

by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice applicable 

to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the 

Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic 

of Ireland (FRS 102) (effective 1 January 2019)’, Financial Reporting 

Standard 102 ‘The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the 

UK and Republic of Ireland’, the Charities and Trustee Investment 

(Scotland) Act 2005 and the Charities Accounts (Scotland) 

Regulations 2006 (as amended). 

The charity meets the definition of a public benefit entity 

under FRS 102. Assets and liabilities are initially recognised at 

historical cost or transaction value unless otherwise stated in the 

relevant accounting policy note. The financial statements are 

presented in sterling.

Going concern
The charity has significant cash reserves and cash position to 

continue in the future. Through the nature of its operations the 

trustees assess that the charity is not unduly exposed to current 

general economic difficulties. The trustees consider that the 

charity will continue in operational existence for the foreseeable 

future and they therefore continue to adopt the going concern 

basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements.

Income
Generally income is recognised when the charity has entitlement 

to the funds, any performance conditions attached to the income 

have been met, it is probable that the income will be received and 

the amount can be measured reliably.

1 Accounting Policies

Notes to the Financial Statements

Income from government grants is recognised in the period 

to which the grant relates or when a funded event takes place. 

Donations are recognised on receipt. Grants or donations received 

for a particular purpose are allocated to restricted funds.

Membership subscriptions are included in the year for which 

they are due.

Turnover from trading activities is stated at invoice value, 

excluding VAT, and is included in the period when a service is 

delivered, goods are made available or an event takes place.

Investment income from bank deposits and current asset 

investments is accrued to the accounts date. Investment income 

from dividends and other sources of income are included when 

receivable.

Income referable to future periods or events is included as 

deferred income under creditors.

Expenditure and cost allocations
Liabilities are recognised as expenditure as soon as there is a 

legal or constructive obligation committing the charity to that 

expenditure, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefits will 

be required in settlement and the amount of the obligation can 

be measured reliably. Expenditure is accounted for on an accruals 

basis.

Wherever possible costs are attributed directly to charitable 

and trading activities. The remaining support and governance 

costs, as shown in note 11 and which cannot be attributed directly, 

have been allocated to the various categories of expenditure on 

the following bases consistent with the use of the resources:

Membership activities 70% (2018 – 67%) – residue of cost after 

other allocations.

Trading activities 30% (2018 – 33%) – allocated on basis of 

turnover.

Consolidated and Charity Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 31 December 2019

  Group:  Charity:

   2019 2018 2019 2018

    £ £ £ £

Cash flows from operating activities:     

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities (note 25)   10,708  221,719  10,253  221,207 

Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchase of tangible fixed assets   (7,153) (1,657) (7,153) (1,657)

Purchase of fixed asset investments   (7,139) (10,290) (7,139) (10,290)

Received for sale of of fixed asset investments   10,348  10,812  10,349  10,812 

Interest and dividends received   11,802   10,489  11,802  10,489 

Net cash provided by investing activities   7,858  9,354  7,859  9,354 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents    18,566  231,073  18,112  230,561 

Cash and cash equivalents brought forward   540,467   309,394  530,922   300,361 1 

Cash and cash equivalents carried forward   559,033  540,467  549,033  530,922 

comprising:

Cash at bank and in hand    559,033   540,467  549,033   530,922 

The notes on pages 39 to 63 form part of these financial statements.

Grants and awards are fully charged in the period when the 

grant is due or the award is made. Awards are made at the time of 

the relevant award events in each year.
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Creditors and provisions
Creditors and provisions are recognised at settlement amount after 

any trade discounts, where the charity has a present obligation 

resulting from a past event, which is likely to result in the transfer 

of funds to a third party, and the amount due can be measured or 

estimated reliably.

Pension Costs
Pension costs represent amounts payable for the accounting 

period under defined contribution schemes.

Taxation
As a registered charity, the Incorporation is exempt from 

corporation tax on its charitable activities. Generally profits of the 

trading subsidiary are paid over to the charity as gift aid so that no 

provision for corporation tax is required.

Fund Accounting
The Unrestricted general fund can be used for any of the charitable 

objects at the discretion of the trustees. 

Designated funds are set aside by the trustees out of 

unrestricted funds for specific expenditure in future periods or to 

represent the value of assets which are not readily realisable, so 

as to distinguish these from the ‘free reserves’, represented by the 

general fund.

Restricted funds can only be used for particular purposes 

within the objects of the charity as specified by the donor or by 

the terms of an appeal or application for the funds.

The Martin Jones Endowment Fund is an expendable 

endowment fund, as more fully described in note 22.

Financial instruments
The charity has elected to apply the provisions of Section 11 ‘Basic 

Financial Instruments’ and Section 12 ‘Other Financial Instruments 

Issues’ of FRS 102 to all of its financial instruments.

1 Accounting Policies (continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements

Basic financial assets
Basic financial assets, which include trade and other debtors, 

current asset investments and cash and bank balances, are 

initially measured at transaction price including transaction costs 

and are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective 

interest method unless the arrangement constitutes a financing 

transaction, where the transaction is measured at the present 

value of the future receipts discounted at a market rate of interest. 

Financial assets classified as receivable within one year are not 

amortised.

Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets, other than those held at fair value through the 

statement of financial activities (“the SOFA”), are assessed for 

indicators of impairment at each reporting end date.

Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence 

that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial 

recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows 

have been affected. If an asset is impaired, the impairment loss 

is the difference between the carrying amount and the present 

value of the estimated cash flows discounted at the asset’s original 

effective interest rate. The impairment loss is recognised in the 

SOFA.

If there is a decrease in the impairment loss arising from 

an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the 

impairment is reversed. The reversal is such that the current 

carrying amount does not exceed what the carrying amount would 

have been, had the impairment not previously been recognised. 

The impairment reversal is recognised in the SOFA.

Derecognition of financial assets
Financial assets are derecognised only when the contractual rights 

to the cash flows from the asset expire or are settled, or when the 

charity transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks 

and rewards of ownership to another entity, or if some significant 

risks and rewards of ownership are retained but control of the 

asset has transferred to another party that is able to sell the asset 

in its entirety to an unrelated third party.

Tangible Fixed Assets and Depreciation
From 1 January 2000 all new tangible fixed assets have been 

recorded at historic cost less accumulated depreciation and any 

provisions for impairment. Prior to that date, the charity’s heritable 

property, and its antiques and fine art furnishings had been 

restated at their open market values at January 1987 and January 

1988 respectively and had subsequently reduced by depreciation 

on those new values. Under the transitional arrangements of FRS 

102 the property, antiques and fine art furnishings continue to be 

treated on that basis.

Both the heritable property and the antique and fine art 

furnishings are depreciated at 2% per annum on a straight 

line basis. The land associated with the property has not been 

depreciated. Other furniture, fittings and office equipment are 

stated at cost less depreciation which is charged by the straight 

line method over the estimated useful life of each asset at the 

following rates:

Heritable Property 0% - 2% per annum

Furniture & Fittings 10% - 25% per annum

Office Equipment 10% - 20% per annum

Computer Equipment 25% - 50% per annum

1 Accounting Policies (continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements

Other investments, comprising a rare book purchased in 2012, 

are stated at trustees’ valuation, which presently equates to cost. 

The policy of the trustees is to obtain an opinion on the valuation 

of this item every 5 years. The item was valued during the year and 

the trustees deemed this value to be unchanged at the year-end.

Gains and losses on revaluation or disposal of investments are 

recognised in aggregate in the Statement of Financial Activities. 

Realised gains and losses are calculated as the difference 

between the sales proceeds and the opening carrying value of 

the investments sold (or their purchase cost if acquired during 

the financial year). Unrealised gains and losses are calculated as 

the difference between fair value at the year end and the carrying 

value.

Stock
Stocks comprise publications and products for resale, and awards 

medals and stationery for future use. Stocks are stated at the lower 

of cost and, where applicable, estimated selling price less costs to 

complete and sell. At each reporting date an assessment is made 

for impairment and any excess of the carrying amount of stocks 

over its estimated selling price less costs to complete and sell is 

recognised as an impairment loss in the statement of financial 

activities (“the SOFA”). Reversals of impairment losses are also 

recognised in the SOFA. 

Debtors
Trade and other debtors are recognised at the settlement amount 

due, after any trade discounts, or the amount advanced by the 

charity. The value is reduced by any impairment to the recoverable 

amount. 

Current Asset Investments
Current asset investments, comprising cash on term deposit, are 

stated at cost. Interest on deposits is accrued to the accounts date 

and included in income for the year.

Generally assets costing less than £250 are not capitalised in 

the balance sheet.

An amount equal to the excess of the annual depreciation 

charge on revalued assets over the notional historical cost 

depreciation charge on those assets is transferred annually from 

the revaluation reserve to the general fund.

Fixed Asset Investments
Listed investments are a form of basic financial instrument and are 

initially recognised at their transaction value and subsequently 

measured at their fair value as at the balance sheet date using the 

closing quoted market price. The statement of financial activities 

includes the net gains and losses arising on revaluation and 

disposals throughout the year.

Investments in unlisted companies are stated at trustees’ 

valuation, based on the net asset value shown by the most recent 

annual accounts.
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2 Membership subscriptions

  Current year:  Previous year: 

    Restricted     Restricted  

   Unrestricted   Income   Total   Unrestricted   Income   Total 

   Funds   Funds  2019  Funds   Funds  2018 

  £   £   £   £   £   £ 

       

Joint subscriptions with RIBA   442,658   —   442,658   435,876   —   435,876 

RIAS only subscriptions   148,891   —   148,891   157,488   —   157,488 

   591,549   —   591,549   593,364   —   593,364 

        

       

3 Membership activities income

    2019   2018

   £   £   £   £   £   £ 

       

Quarterly magazine   40,120  —   40,120   36,800   —   36,800 

Annual Festival  —   —   —   5,500   —   5,500 

Other income   4,838   —   4,838   7,761   —   7,761 

   44,958   —   44,958   50,061   —   50,061 

       

       

4 Awards and grants income

    2019   2018 

  £   £   £   £   £   £ 

       

Doolan Award grant and donation   —   30,000   30,000   —   35,000   35,000 

Sponsorship and other awards   28,550   5,000   33,550   27,500   5,000   32,500 

Awards entry fees and other income   43,518   —   43,518   40,529   —   40,529 

ASSA contributions  —   1,500   1,500   —   2,000   2,000 

   72,068   36,500  108,568   68,029   42,000  110,029 

       

Notes to the Financial Statements

Classification of financial liabilities
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according 

to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into. An 

equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest 

in the assets of the charity after deducting all of its liabilities.

Basic financial liabilities
Basic financial liabilities, which include trade and other creditors, 

are initially recognised at transaction price. Financial liabilities 

classified as payable within one year are not amortised.

Trade creditors are obligations to pay for goods or services 

that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from 

suppliers. Amounts payable are classified as current liabilities if 

payment is due within one year or less. If not, they are presented 

as non-current liabilities. Trade creditors are recognised initially 

at transaction price and subsequently measured at amortised cost 

using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities are derecognised when the charity’s 

contractual obligations expire or are discharged or cancelled.

Judgements and key sources of estimation 
uncertainty
In the application of the charity’s accounting policies, the trustees 

are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 

1 Accounting Policies (continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements

about the carrying amount of assets and liabilities that are not 

readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated 

assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors 

that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from 

these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an 

ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 

in the period in which the estimate is revised where the revision 

affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future 

periods where the revision affects both current and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The estimates and assumptions which have a significant risk of 

causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets 

and liabilities are as follows:

Stock provisions

As detailed above, the charity estimates provisions against the 

carrying values of stock. When assessing the provisions, the 

trustees consider factors such as sales volumes in recent years of 

all stock lines, sales values achieved and book cost of the stocks. 

The value of stock net of provisions is included on the face of the 

balance sheet.

Provisions are also made against publishing work in progress 

costs where the relevant publictions are unlikely to be published 

in the near future.



44 45

The Royal Incorporation of Architects in Scotland

Trustees’ Annual Report 2019

The Royal Incorporation of Architects in Scotland

Trustees’ Annual Report 2019

Notes to the Financial Statements

5 Trading Activities and Subsidiary Company

The trading activities of the Royal Incorporation of Architects in Scotland are run by its wholly owned subsidiary company, RIAS Services 

Limited (Company Number SC090513) , which pays over its distributable profits to the Incorporation by gift aid. The Incorporation owns 

the entire issued share capital of RIAS Services Ltd, comprising 100 ordinary shares of £1 each, which is shown at its cost of £100 in the 

balance sheet of the charity.

The summarised results of RIAS Services Limited for the year are as follows:

  Services to Publications Consultancy Total Total

  architects and products and other 2019 2018 

  £ £ £ £ £

     

Turnover  234,763  106,752  36,667  378,182  370,037 

      

Direct expenditure  139,683  109,601  44,801  294,085  258,582 

Administrative support costs  51,051  23,214  7,974  82,239  100,777 

Total expenditure  190,734  132,815  52,775  376,324  359,359 

      

Profit for the year     1,858  10,678 

Gift Aid payable to the Incorporation     (1,858) (10,678)

Net profit before tax      —   —

Tax charge      —   — 

Net (loss) incurred/profit retained by subsidiary company      —  — 

The assets and liabilities of the subsidiary company at 31 December 2019 were as follows:

     2019 2018

Current Assets     £ £

Stocks and work in progress     40,938  43,834 

Amount due from the Incorporation     51,323  44,526 

Other debtors     48,409  47,609 

Cash at bank     10,000  9,543 

     150,670  145,512 

Current Liabilities  

Creditors and accruals     (12,737) (2,526)

Deferred income     (137,833) (142,886)

  

Net Assets      100  100 

Shareholder’s funds     100  100 

6 Investment income

   Current year:  Previous year: 

  Unrestricted   Endowment   Total   Unrestricted   Endowment   Total 

  Funds   Fund  2019  Funds   Fund  2018

   £   £   £   £   £   £ 

      

Income from listed investments 3,205  5,426  8,631  3,231  5,073  8,304 

Bank and loan interest 3,171   —  3,171  2,147  38  2,185 

 6,376  5,426  11,802   5,378   5,111   10,489 

7 Membership activities – expenditure

 Unrestricted Funds

     2019 2018

      £ £

Chapter grants      34,489  35,200 

RIAS Quarterly journal      33,779  37,024 

Corporate costs      10,927  10,621 

Events, projects & promotion      4,685  12,694 

Membership staff costs      136,392  118,755 

Other direct costs      17,161  8,542 

Support and governance costs (note 11)      347,491  317,112 

Irrecoverable VAT       17,177  17,440 

VAT overpaid in 2017      —  (11,366)

     602,101  546,022 

Notes to the Financial Statements
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8 Awards and grants expenditure

    Unrestricted   Restricted   Endowment   Total 

    Funds   Income Funds   Fund  2019 

   £ £ £ £

      

Doolan Award prize   15,830  30,000   —  45,830 

Other awards     —  5,000   —  5,000 

Awards events, judging and other   44,396   —   —  44,396 

Staff costs   3,544  —   —  3,544 

   63,770  35,000   —  98,770 

       Total 

      2018

Previous year costs:      £

Doolan Award prize   6,275  35,000   —  41,275 

Other awards    —  5,000   —  5,000 

Awards events, judging and other   35,229  —   —  35,229 

Staff costs   3,903   —  —  3,903 

   45,407  40,000   — 85,407 

Notes to the Financial Statements

9 Festival of Architecture expenditure

  Current year:  Previous year:  

   Restricted     Restricted  

  Unrestricted   Income   Total   Unrestricted   Income  Total 

  Funds   Funds  2019  Funds   Funds  2018

    £   £   £   £   £   £ 

Partnership grants (see below)  —   —   —  750   —  750 

 —  —   —  750   —  750 

      

The above expenditure for 2018 shows the cost for the final period of the 2017 Festival of Architecture.

All grants are institutional and payable to partner organisations for running events in the Festival of Architecture. Total grants of £750 

were paid out to 2 organisations during 2018, as follows:

     2019 2018

       £   £ 

Dundee Institute of Architects      —  250 

Airlink Central       —  500  

Total grants paid      —  750 

10 Exceptional governance costs

The exceptional governance costs comprise accountancy, legal and other consultancy costs arising from a special investigation and 

issues arising from this, as shown below.

     2019 2018 

      £   £

 

Legal advice     18,208  24,382 

Other expenditure      —  30,830 

     18,208  55,212 

Notes to the Financial Statements
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11 Support and governance costs

  Current year:   Previous year: 

 Support Governance Total Support Governance Total

 costs costs 2019 costs costs 2018

   £   £   £   £   £   £ 

      

Management and admin staff  182,017  9,580  191,597  194,449  10,234  204,683 

Office admin costs 48,367  2,546  50,913  37,625  1,980  39,605 

Occupancy costs 45,712  2,406  48,118  44,917  2,364  47,281 

Other administrative costs 107,242  5,644  112,886  105,688  5,563  111,251 

External audit fee 5,471   —  5,471  6,500   —  6,500 

Internal audit fee 3,950   —  3,950   —   —  —

Council meetings and travel 16,795   —  16,795  8,569   —  8,569 

Total 409,554  20,176  429,730  397,748  20,141  417,889 

      

Support and governance costs are allocated as follows:     2019 2018

       £   £ 

Membership activities (note 7)     347,491  317,112 

Trading activities (note 5)     82,239  100,777 

Total     429,730  417,889

 

12 Expenditure

Expenditure includes the following amounts charged:

       2019   2018 

       £   £ 

Auditor’s remuneration – for external audit        5,471   6,500 

Depreciation charge       11,776   13,148 

Loss on disposal of fixed investments       2,245   —

Operating leases paid in the year        3,796   3,796

 

Notes to the Financial Statements

13 Staff details

The average numbers of staff and costs (including consultant staff) for each activity during the year were:

 2019 2018

     Number   Cost   Number   Cost 

      £    £ 

Membership activities (including awards)    5 139,935  5 122,657 

Trading activities    6 145,878  6 144,618 

Support & governance    6 191,597  6 204,683 

Totals    17 477,410  17  471,958 

Total staff costs are analysed as follows:

      2019 2018

      £ £

Salaries      418,911  409,722 

Social security costs      39,158  37,467 

Defined contribution pension costs      19,414  18,989 

Total employed staff      477,483  466,178 

Employment allowance      (3,000) (3,000)

Other staff costs      2,927  8,780 

      477,410  471,958 

In 2019 one member of staff had emoluments between £80,000 and £90,000 (2018: one member of staff between £70,000 and £80,000). In 

addition, an amount of £3,606 was paid into a defined contribution pension scheme for this employee (2018: £3,545).

The aggregate cost of remuneration and benefits (including NIC and pension contributions) for the key management personnel of the 

charity was £84,402 (2018: £91,261).

Included in ‘Other expenditure’ in the previous year, within Exceptional governance costs (see Note 10) is a settlement sum paid on 

departure to the former Secretary and Treasurer and was paid subject to a legally binding settlement agreement.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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14 Related parties

Travel expenses of £8,775 (2018: £9,400) were reimbursed to members of Council during the year.

No remuneration was paid to members of Council.

Trustees are members who can pay a subscription and use the services of the charity and the group.

RIAS Services Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of the charity. During the year costs of £243,840 (2018: £245,390) were recharged to 

RIAS Services Limited. During the year Gift Aid of £1,858 (2018: £10,678) was received from RIAS Services Limited. The balance due to RIAS 

Services Limited at 31 December 2019 was £51,323 (2018: £44,526).

Notes to the Financial Statements

15 Tangible Fixed Assets – Charity and Group

      Furniture, 

    Heritable    Fittings &  

    Property   Furnishings   Equipment   Total 

Cost      £   £   £   £ 

      

At 1st January 2019   470,591  41,375  72,814  584,780 

Additions    —   —  7,153  7,153 

Disposals    —  —  (3,886) (3,886)

At 31st December 2019   470,591  41,375  76,081  588,047 

      

Depreciation      

At 1st January 2019   117,355  22,034  59,091  198,480 

Charge for year   7,012  828  3,936  11,776 

On disposals    —   —  (3,886) (3,886)

At 31st December 2019   124,367  22,862  59,141  206,370  

     

Net Book Value      

At 31st December 2019   346,224  18,513  16,940  381,677 

At 31st December 2018   353,236  19,341  13,723  386,300 

Details of revaluations are disclosed in note 23, where assets have been revalued this value has been treated as deemed cost under the 

transitional arrangement of FRS102.

 

16 Fixed Asset Investments – Charity and Group

     2019 2018

       £   £ 

Listed Securities:     

Market value at 1 January 2019      278,395   303,277 

Add: Acquisitions in year at cost      7,139   10,290 

Less: Disposals at opening book value      (12,592) (11,940)

Net gain / (loss) on revaluation      43,018  (23,232)

      315,960   278,395 

Investment cash accounts      6,803   6,187 

Market value at 31 December 2019      322,763   284,582 

Historical cost at 31 December 2019     236,764  239,077 

The above investments are held for the following funds:

Martin Jones Award endowment fund      240,074   210,072 

Unrestricted general fund      82,689  74,510 

Market value at 31 December 2019      322,763   284,582 

The above investments are analysed as follows: 

UK investments      224,729   194,431 

Non-UK investments      98,034   90,151 4

      322,763   284,582 

   SBCC A Rare Book B Total 2019 Total 2018

    £   £   £   £ 

Unlisted investments:

Book value at 1 January 2019    42,701   40,250   82,951   77,392 

Net gain on revaluation     6,096  —   6,096  5,559 

Book value at 31 December 2019    48,797   40,250   89,047   82,951 

A: The Incorporation holds 2,500 shares, at a historical cost of £2,500, in Scottish Building Contract Committee Ltd, representing a one sixth 

share. The valuation has been based on the net asset value of the company according to its latest available balance sheet at 30 April 2019.

B: The rare book is an original volume of poems by Robert Burns, ‘The Kilmarnock Edition’, purchased as an investment in 2012 at a cost of 

£40,250. The book was independently valued during the year by Lyon & Turnbull Ltd and the value was deemed to be unchanged.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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17 Stocks

 Group:  Charity:

   2019 2018 2019 2018

     £   £   £   £ 

Bookshop stock for resale    25,566   30,957   —   —

Publishing stock - completed titles    15,372   12,876   —   — 

Medals and stationery    17,434   19,532   17,434   19,532 

    58,372   63,365   17,434   19,532 

18 Debtors

 Group:  Charity:

   2019 2018 2019 2018

Due within one year:     £   £   £   £ 

Trade debtors    33,539  15,070   20,940  3,566 

Accrued income     44,394  43,434   8,644   7,331 

Prepayments    3,797  3,964   3,737   3,964 

Other debtors    42  65   42   65 

    81,772   62,533   33,363   14,926 

Notes to the Financial Statements

19 Creditors

 Group:  Charity:

   2019 2018 2019 2018

Amounts falling due within one year:    £ £ £ £

Amount due to subsidiary company    —   —   51,323   44,526 

Trade creditors    17,238  1,096   7,672   665 

Taxation and social security    26,560  43,129   26,560   43,129 

Accruals and other creditors    44,649  40,010   41,479  37,916 

Deferred income (below)    199,109  226,629   139,508  161,976 

    287,556   310,864   266,542   288,212 

Movements on deferred income:

 Group:  Charity:

   2019 2018 2019 2018

    £ £ £ £

Opening Balance at 1 January    226,629  278,409   161,976   142,344 

Amount released to income   (226,629) (278,409)  (161,976)  (142,344)

Amount deferred in year   199,109  226,629   139,508   161,976 

Closing Balance at 31 December    199,109  226,629   139,508   161,976 

Deferred income at 31 December 2019 comprises prepaid membership, sponsorship and practice services and subscriptions income.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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20 Movements in Funds – Group

  At   Income  Expenditure Net gain/(loss)  Transfers At

 01/01/2019   on Investments  31/12/2019

   £   £  £ £ £  £ 

Endowment Fund:

Martin Jones Award (note 22)  261,207   5,426  (4,930) 34,109   —  295,812 

Restricted Income Funds:

Doolan Award  —   30,000  (30,000)  —   —   —

Other award funds 11,034  5,000  (5,000)  —  (3,700) 7,334 

Benevolent Fund 51,646   —   —   —   —  51,646 

Scottish Community Projects Fund 3,428   —   —   —   —  3,428 

ASSA Fund 9,968  1,500  —   —   —  11,468 

Total Restricted Income Funds 76,076  36,500  (35,000) —  (3,700) 73,876 

Total Restricted Funds  337,283  41,926  (39,930) 34,109  (3,700) 369,688 

Designated Funds:

Fixed asset fund 216,246  —  —  —  (1,623) 214,623 

Unlisted investments 82,951   —   — 6,096   —  89,047 

Future Publications  78,233  —  —  —  — 78,233 

Directory costs 5,000   — —   —   —  5,000 

Chapters contingency fund 9,788   —   —  —   —  9,788 

Total designated 392,218  —   —  6,096  (1,623) 396,691 

General Fund 209,779  1,103,133  (1,058,470) 8,910  8,323  271,675 

Revaluation Reserve (note 23) 170,054   —   — —  (3,000) 167,054 

Total Unrestricted Funds 772,051  1,103,133  (1,058,470) 15,006  3,700  835,420 

Total Funds 1,109,334  1,145,059  (1,098,400) 49,115   —  1,205,108 

Notes to the Financial Statements Notes to the Financial Statements

20 Movements in Funds – Group (continued)

Notes on Restricted funds:

The Doolan Best Building in Scotland award and ‘other award funds’ are funded by donations and grants and are applied for designated 

areas of architectural achievement.

The Benevolent Fund is for the assistance of architects or their dependents who are in financial need.

The Scottish Community Projects Fund (SCPF) provides assistance with feasibility studies for projects intended to benefit local 

communities. The fund is currently closed due to lack of funds.

The ASSA Fund comprises funds transferred from the former Association of Scottish Schools of Architecture (ASSA) and subsequent 

contributions, which are to be applied in accordance with the objects of ASSA.

The Other awards fund comprises donations/grants towards various awards and prize funds. The transfer in the year relates to a 

reallocation of an award made in the previous year.

Notes on Designated funds: 

The fixed asset fund represents the net book value of tangible fixed assets, net of the revaluation reserve. This distinguishes the book value 

of these assets from the more readily realisable assets represented by the General fund. Annual depreciation is charged to the fund and 

transfers made for additions and disposals. 

Likewise the unlisted investment fund represents the valuation of unlisted investments (see note 16), which is held in a designated 

fund, as not representing readily realisable assets. 

The future publications fund represents an amount given to RIAS Services Limited for the publications of guides and other titles which 

have not yet been utilised. 

The £5,000 designated towards Directory costs in 2017 has not yet been ustilised.

The Chapters contingency fund is available for other chapters to utilise throughout the year. No expenditure has been utilised this year. 
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20 Movements in Funds – Charity

  At   Income  Expenditure Net gain/(loss)  Transfers At

 01/01/2019   on Investments  31/12/2019

   £   £  £ £ £  £ 

Endowment Fund:      

Martin Jones Award (note 22)  261,207   5,426  (4,930) 34,109   —  295,812 

Restricted Income Funds:

Festival of Architecture   —   —   —   —  —   — 

Doolan Award  —   30,000  (30,000)  —   —  — 

Other award funds 11,034  5,000  (5,000) —  (3,700) 7,334 

Benevolent Fund 51,646   —   —  —  —  51,646 

Scottish Community Projects Fund 3,428   —   —   —   —  3,428 

ASSA Fund 9,968  1,500   — —  — 11,468

Total Restricted Income Funds 76,076  36,500  (35,000)  —  (3,700) 73,876 

Total Restricted Funds  337,283  41,926  (39,930) 34,109  (3,700) 369,688 

Designated Funds:

Fixed asset fund 216,246   —   —  —  (1,623) 214,623 

Unlisted investments 82,951   —   —  6,096   —  89,047 

Directory costs 5,000   —  —   —   — 5,000 

Chapters contingency fund 9,788   —  —  —   — 9,788 

Total designated 313,985  —  —  6,096  (1,623) 318,458 

General Fund 209,779  726,809  (682,146) 8,910  8,323  271,675 

Revaluation Reserve (note 23) 170,054   —   —   —  (3,000) 167,054 

Total Unrestricted Funds 693,818  726,809  (682,146) 15,006  3,700  757,187 

Total Funds 1,031,101  768,735  (722,076) 49,115   —  1,126,875 

Notes to the Financial Statements

The explanatory notes on Restricted and Designated funds on page 55 are also applicable here.

Notes to the Financial Statements

20 Movements in Funds – Previous Year Group and Charity

  At   Income  Expenditure Net gain on Transfers At

 01/01/18   Investments  31/12/18

   £   £  £ £ £  £ 

Endowment Fund:

Martin Jones Award (note 22)  275,088   5,111  (1,449) (17,543)  —  261,207 

Restricted Income Funds:

Doolan Award  —   35,000  (35,000)  —  —   — 

Other award funds 11,034  5,000  (5,000)  —  —  11,034 

Benevolent Fund 51,646   —   —   —   —  51,646 

Scottish Community Projects Fund 3,428   —   —   —   — 3,428 

ASSA Fund 7,968  2,000   —   —   —  9,968 

Total Restricted Income Funds 74,076  42,000  (40,000)  —   — 76,076 

Total Restricted Funds  349,164  47,111  (41,449) (17,543)  —  337,283 

Designated Funds:

Fixed asset fund 224,737   —   —  — (8,491) 216,246 

Unlisted investments 77,392   —   —  5,559  — 82,951 

Future Publications  —  78,233   —  —   —  78,233 

Directory costs 5,000   —  —   —  —  5,000 

Chapters contingency fund 9,788   —  —   —   — 9,788 

Total designated 316,917  78,233   —  5,559  (8,491) 392,218

 

General Fund 117,096  1,095,269  (1,007,260) (6,817) 11,491  209,779 

Revaluation Reserve (note 23) 173,054  —   —  —  (3,000) 170,054 

Total Unrestricted Funds 607,067  1,173,502  (1,007,260) (1,258)  —  772,051 

Total Funds 956,231  1,220,613  (1,048,709) (18,801)  —  1,109,334 

The explanatory notes on Restricted and Designated funds on page 55 are also applicable here.
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20 Movements in Funds – Previous Year Charity

  At   Income  Expenditure Net gain on Transfers At

 01/01/18   Investments  31/12/18

   £   £  £ £ £  £ 

Endowment Fund:

Martin Jones Award (note 22)  275,088   5,111  (1,449) (17,543)  —  261,207 

Restricted Income Funds:

Festival of Architecture   —   — —   —   —   — 

Doolan Award  —  35,000  (35,000)  —   —   — 

Other award funds 11,034  5,000  (5,000)  —  — 11,034 

Benevolent Fund 51,646  —   —  —   —  51,646 

Scottish Community Projects Fund 3,428   —   —   —  —  3,428 

ASSA Fund 7,968  2,000  —   —   —  9,968 

Total Restricted Income Funds 74,076  42,000  (40,000)  —  — 76,076 

Total Restricted Funds  349,164  47,111  (41,449) (17,543) —  337,283 

Designated Funds:

Fixed asset fund 224,737   —   —   —  (8,491) 216,246 

Unlisted investments 77,392   —  —  5,559   —  82,951 

Directory costs 5,000  —   — —   — 5,000 

Chapters contingency fund 9,788  —   —  —  —  9,788 8 

Total designated 316,917   —  —  5,559  (8,491) 313,985 

 

General Fund 117,096  735,911  (647,902) (6,817) 11,491  209,779 

Revaluation Reserve (note 23) 173,054   —  —  —  (3,000) 170,054 

Total Unrestricted Funds 607,067  735,911  (647,902) (1,258)  — 693,818 

Total Funds 956,231  783,022  (689,351) (18,801)  —  1,031,101 

Notes to the Financial Statements

The explanatory notes on Restricted and Designated funds on page 55 are also applicable here.

Notes to the Financial Statements

21 Analysis of Net Assets Representing Funds

  Endowment   Restricted     Revaluation   Total 

  Fund   Funds   Designated   General   Reserve  2019

   £   £   £   £   £   £ 

Fund balances at 31 December 2019 are represented by:

Tangible fixed assets —  —  214,623   —   167,054   381,677 

Fixed asset investments 240,074   —  89,047  82,689   — 411,810 

Stocks and work in progress  —   —   —  58,372   —  58,372 

Debtors  —   —   —  81,772   —  81,772 

Current asset investments  —   —  —   —   —   — 

Cash at bank and in hand 55,738  73,876  93,021  336,398   —  559,033 

Creditors due in one year —   —  —  (287,556) —  (287,556)

Net Assets 295,812  73,876  396,691  271,675  167,054  1,205,108 

  Endowment   Restricted     Revaluation   Total 

  Fund   Funds   Designated   General   Reserve  2018 

  £   £   £   £   £   £ 

Previous year:

Tangible fixed assets  —   —   216,246   —   170,054   386,300 

Fixed asset investments 210,072   —  82,951  74,510   —   367,533 

Stocks and work in progress  —   —   —  63,365   —  63,365 

Debtors  —  —   —  62,533   —  62,533 

Current asset investments  —   —   — —   — — 

Cash at bank and in hand 51,135  76,076  14,788  398,468   —   540,467 

Creditors due in one year  —   —   —  (310,864) —  (310,864)

Net Assets 261,207  76,076  313,985  288,012  170,054  1,109,334 
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23 Revaluation Reserve

The revaluation reserve represents the following:

       Excess over 

       book value

       £ 

Heritable property at 15 Rutland Square independently revalued at open market value of £240,000 in January 1987

(original cost - £14,527)       225,473 

Antique & fine art furnishings independently revalued at open market value of £39,245 in January 1988

(original cost - £1,984)       37,261 

Less accumulated depreciation charged on revalued amount       (95,680)

Balance on revaluation reserve at 31 December 2019       167,054 

Since the original revaluations by independent valuers, the trustees have adopted a policy not to revalue fixed assets which are for the 

Incorporation's own use. However, in their opinion, current valuations are considerably in excess of those included in the accounts. The 

fixed asset figures (note 15) also include the cost of improvements and acquisitions since the revaluations were carried out.

24 Government grants

Assistance from government grants (including inter-governmental agencies) during the year amounted £35,000 for architectural awards 

(2018: £35,500).

Notes to the Financial Statements

25 Reconciliation of net (expenditure) to net cash flow from operating activities

 Group:  Charity:

   2019 2018 2019 2018 

   £ £ £ £

Net (expenditure) for year   95,774  153,104  95,774  74,871 

Adjustments for:

Depreciation   11,776  13,148  11,776  13,148 

Loss on disposal of tangible fixed assets   2,245   —  2,245   — 

Interest and dividends   (11,802)  (10,489) (11,802) (10,489)

(Gains)/loss on investments   (49,115) 18,801  (49,115) 18,801 

Decrease in current asset investments    — 75,000  —  75,000 

(Increase) / decrease in investment cash    (616) 1,197  (616) 1,197 

Decrease / (increase) in stock   4,993  (4,965) 2,098  1,338 

(Increase) / decrease in debtors   (19,239) 48,839  (18,437) 34,636 

(Decrease) in creditors   (23,308)  (72,916) (21,670) 12,705 

Net cash (used in) operating activities   10,708  221,719  10,253  221,207 

26 Lease Commitments – Group and Charity

The charity has the following future minimum operating lease commitments:

     2019 2018

      £ £

Within one year     3,796  3,796 

Between one and five years     4,888  9,334 

     8,684  13,130 

Notes to the Financial Statements

22 Martin Jones Award Fund

The Martin Jones Award was originally set up as an endowment fund in 1993 from a bequest under the will of Martin Jones. Under the terms 

of the trust it became an expendable endowment fund after the year 2011. The object of the fund is to advance education for the public 

benefit by providing an annual award for an outstanding student of Duncan of Jordanstone College of Art and Design at the University 

of Dundee, who submits the most creative idea for research in historical, theoretical or modern architecture or a combination of these.
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    Unrestricted   Restricted   Endowment   Total   Total 

    Funds   Income Funds   Fund   2018  2017

    £   £   £   £   £

Income from: 

Charitable activities:

 Membership subscriptions   593,365   —   —   593,365  580,948 

 Membership activities   50,061   —   —   50,061  41,609 

 Awards & grants    68,029   42,000   —   110,029  109,081 

 Festival of Architecture   —   —   —   —  102,167 

Trading activities:

 Services to architects   217,731   —   —   217,731  219,959 

 Publications and products   99,849   —   —   99,849  134,539 

 Consultancy and other services   52,457   —   —   52,457  45,570 

 Future publications    78,233  —   —   78,233   — 

 Rental income   8,400   —   —   8,400  8,050 

Investment income   5,378   —   5,111   10,489  10,752 

Total Income   1,173,503   42,000   5,111   1,220,614  1,252,675 

Expenditure on:

Charitable activities:

 Membership activities   546,022   —   —   546,022  536,096 

 Awards and grants expenditure   45,407   40,000    85,407  131,264 

 Festival of Architecture   750   —   —  750  220,814 

Raising funds:

Trading activities:

 Services to architects   183,203   —   —   183,203  174,315 

 Publications and products   114,929   —   —   114,929  141,484 

 Consultancy and other services   61,227   —   —   61,227  59,765 

Investment manager fees    510   —   1,449   1,959  2,475 

Other expenditure:

 Exceptional governance costs   55,212   —   —   55,212  79,840 

Total Expenditure   1,007,260   40,000   1,449   1,048,709  1,346,053 

Net income/(expenditure) before gains on investments   166,243   2,000   3,662   171,905  (93,378)

Net (loss)/gains on investments   (1,258)  -   (17,543)  (18,801) 31,589 

Net income/(expenditure)   164,985   2,000   (13,881)  153,104  (61,789)

Transfers between funds  —   —   —   —   —

Net Movement in Funds   164,985   2,000   (13,881)  153,104  (61,789)

Funds brought forward    607,067   74,076   275,088   956,231  1,018,020 

Funds carried forward   772,052   76,076   261,207   1,109,335  956,231 

Notes to the Financial Statements Notes to the Financial Statements

27 Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities 
  (Incorporating the Income and Expenditure Account) for the year ended 31 December 2018
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     Unrestricted   Restricted   Endowment   Total   Total 

     Funds   Income Funds   Fund   2018  2017

    £   £   £   £   £

Income from:

Charitable activities:

 Membership subscriptions    593,365   —  —   593,365  580,948 

 Membership activities    50,061   —  —   50,061  41,609 

 Awards and grants     68,029   42,000  —   110,029  109,081 

 Festival of Architecture    —   —   —  —  102,167 

 Rental income    8,400   —   —  8,400  8,050 

 Publications     —    —   — 

Investment income    5,378   —   5,111   10,489  10,752 

Other income - Gift Aid     10,678   —  —   10,678  24,504 

Total Income    735,911   42,000   5,111   783,022  877,110 

Expenditure on:

Charitable activities:

 Membership activities    546,023   —   —   546,023  536,096 

 Awards and grants expenditure    45,407   40,000   —   85,407  131,264 

 Festival of Architecture    750   —   —  750  220,814 

Raising funds:

Investment manager fees     510   —   1,449   1,959  2,475 

Other expenditure:

Exceptional governance costs    55,212  —   —   55,212  79,840 

Total Expenditure    647,902   40,000   1,449   689,351  970,489 

Net income/(expenditure) before gains on investments   88,009   2,000   3,662   93,672  (93,379)

Net (loss)/gains on investments    (1,258)  —   (17,543)  (18,801) 31,589 

Net income/(expenditure)    86,751   2,000   (13,881)  74,871  (61,790)

Transfers between funds    —  —  —  —  — 

Net Movement in Funds    86,751   2,000   (13,881)  74,871  (61,790)

Funds brought forward     607,067   74,076   275,088   956,231  1,018,020 

Funds carried forward    693,818   76,076   261,207   1,031,102  956,231 
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